IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 

THIRD DISTRICT COURT NO. 84-1431

FRANKLIN B. BYSTROM, etc., et al.,

Petitioners,

VS.

S.F. WHITMAN, et al.,
Respondents.

PETITIONER BYSTROM AS DADE COUNTY PROPERTY APPRAISER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. GINSBURG
Dade County Attorney
1626 Dade County Courthouse
73 West Flagler Street
Miami, Florida 33130
(305)375-5151

-By-

Daniel A. Weiss Assistant County Attorney

##

#### INTRODUCTION

In this Brief on Jurisdiction, Petitioner Franklin B. Bystrom, Dade County Property Appraiser, will be referred to as the "Property Appraiser. Petitioner Randall Miller, as Director of the Department of Revenue of the State of Florida, will be referred to as the "DOR".

The Respondents S.F. Whitman, D.A. Whitman and W.F. Whitman will be referred to collectively as "the taxpayer".

The district court of appeal in this case, the Third District Court of Appeal, will be referred to as the "District Court".

Citation to documents included in the appendix of this brief will be designated "app." All emphasis in this brief is supplied by counsel.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACIS

This appeal seeks review of judicially-created limitations of a property appraiser's discovery rights in an action to restore a tax assessment after reduction by the property appraisal adjustment board. Such an action arises at the instance of the taxpayer itself, since it is the taxpayer who initiates the property appraisal adjustment board proceeding.

In the cause within, the taxpayer petitioned the Property Appraisal Adjustment Board ("the Board") and obtained a \$1,810,185 reduction in the 1981 assessment of the luxury Bal Harbour Shops mall. The Board-ordered assessment reduction was wholly predicated on a single finding: "Expense ratio warrants change as reflected below [from \$18,101,841 to \$16,291,656, a 10% reduction] — expenses should approximate 20%—rentals tend to high side less 10%." See app. A, Special Master's Findings of Fact, para. 6B.

The substantial reduction by the Board was made completely without any evidentiary basis to support it, since the taxpayer's expert witness adduced absolutely no testimony or documentary evidence relating to the actual expenses or income of the subject property, and candidly confessed that the taxpayer had not provided such information even to him, the

taxpayer's own authorized agent. Property Appraisal Adjustment Board hearing transcript, app. F at 12.

The Property Appraiser determined that the Board reduction illegally reduced the assessment of the subject property to below "just" (fair market) value and filed the action below to reinstate the preliminary assessment. The taxpayer answered the Complaint, persisting in its defense of the reduced assessment.

The Property Appraiser promptly served requests for production of documents previously requested prior to the Board hearing, as well as additional documents, including hazard insurance policies and profit and loss statements with respect to the subject property. (The specific requests track Florida Administrative Code rule 12D-1.05, as was graphicall demonstrated to the trial judge at the hearing on the motion to compel production of documents. See app. B, a copy of the request for production and corresponding provisions of rule 12D-1.05, in the form submitted to the trial court at hearing.)

For the four months prior to hearing on the motion to compel productic, the taxpayer did not interpose any objection to production as permitted by the rules of civil procedure. The taxpayer candidly admitted to the District Court that it had made no objection: "[T]he three requests for production...have not been responded to." Petition for Writ of Certiorari at  $3.\frac{1}{2}$ /

Prior to the hearing on the motion to compel production, the Property Appraiser filed a transcript of the Property Appraisal Adjustment Board proceedings. App. F. At hearing, the trial judge considered the testimony of the Property Appraiser that in both past and present years the taxpayer had not provided income and expense information to the Property Appraiser. Id. at 3. The Property Appraiser's counsel read from the Board transcript

<sup>1/</sup> Even in the face of the taxpayer's express admission to the contrary, the District Court stated without elaboration that the taxpayer had objects to the production requested, and proceeded to honor the purported objection Slip opinion, app. D at 2, 10 FLW at 353.

the Special Master's query: "[W] hy wouldn't they give the assessor the actual figures so we can deal from actuality rather than projection?"

[d\_ at 12. The trial court entered an order compelling production of the records, expressly providing for their confidentiality in the hands of the Property Appraiser and preserving the taxpayer's right to object to their admission at trial or to request that the court file be sealed.

App. C, para. 1.

The taxpayer's petition for certiorari ensued. The petition contained the first record assertion that the taxpayer was "prepared to accept the gross revenue, expense and net revenue attributed to [the subject] property by the Appraiser, and wished to challenge only the capitalization rate applied by the Appraiser to the property's hypothesized net income." Petition for Writ of Certiorari at 7. The District Court granted the taxpayer's wish, immunizing the taxpayer from production of any of the documents requested. App. D. On March 20, 1985, the District Court denied the Property Appraiser's motion for rehearing. App. E.

Subsequently, after denial of the mtion for rehearing, the Property Appraiser and the DOR filed their joint Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court because the decision of the District Court expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of another district court of appeal and with decisions of this court on the same question of law and significantly affects the duties and responsibilities of property appraisers as a class of constitutional officers.

I. THE SUPREME COURT SHOULD EXERCISE ITS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT BECAUSE THE DECISION EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S DECISIONS IN THE CASES OF Orlowitz v. Orlowitz, 199 So. 2d 97 (Fla. 1967); Blake v. Xerox Corp., 447 So.2d 1348 (Fla. 1984), AND WITH THE DECISIONS OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN County of Volusia v. Union Camp Corp., 302 So.2d 160 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974) AND Greenwood v. Firstamerica Development Corp., 265 So.2d 89 (Fla. 1st DCA 1972) ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW.

a

A. The Decision of the District Court Expressly and Directly Conflicts with the Decision of this Court in Orlowitz.

In Onlowitz v. Onlowitz, 199 So. 2d 97 (Fla. 1967), this Court quashed

a decision of the Third District immunizing a husband in a divorce case from inquiry concerning his financial worth. The Third District had expressly relied on <u>Jacobs v. Jacobs</u>, 50 So.2d 169 (Fla. 1951). The District Court reasoned that matters relating to financial worth were not discoverable because the husband had represented to the court that he was "ready, willing and able to answer any reasonable order for costs, fees or other allowances."

This Court quashed the Third District decision in Orlowitz and approved the conflicting decision in Parker v. Parker, 182 So.2d 498 (Fla. 4th DCA 1966), quoting approvingly, 199 So.2d at 98, the rationale of the Parker court:

'We must say, based upon our understanding of the Rules and the philosophy behind thm, that we do not look with favor upon the husband's position in not wishing to reveal any of the details of his financial position and his effort to bridle the dependents' discovery rights by substituting his secondary non-verifiable conclusion in lieu of primary detailed facts. The adversary and the court are entitled to the whole factual picture to the end that an independent complete understanding and evaluation may be had.'

The <u>Parker</u> rule adopted by this Court in <u>Orlowitz</u> is that the scope of discovery under the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure "is specifically related to the suit's subject matter <u>without limitation by the paper issues made by the respective claims and defenses." Parker</u>, 182 So. 2d at 501 (distinguishing <u>Jacobs</u>, 50 So. 2d at 173, where this Court had said that under the old Equity Rules "the sole purpose for the rule is to procure evidence pertinent to the issues... made by the pleadings.") Since <u>Orlowitz</u>, only the Third District has cited <u>Jacobs</u> to immunize a party from discovery. <u>Whitman v. Bystrom</u>, app. D at 5, 10 FLW at 354 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985); <u>Powell v. Powell</u>, 386 So. 2d at 1215 n. 4 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980).

In the case within, the Third District has again reverted to the <u>Jacobs</u> discovery <u>immunization</u> rule. In doing so, however, the District <u>Court</u> erroneously concluded that there was "no disputed issue to which the taxpayers' records are germane". App. D at 5, 10 FLW at 354. This conclusion of lack of relevance, the linchpin in the District Court's

confidentiality analysis, was reached in spite of the Property Appraiser's protestations and the taxpayer's own candid admission to the contrary: "The argument made by the Appraiser under Point IIC is persuasive in establishing that the 'Omni' decision [Bystrom v. Equi'table Life Assurance Society of the United States, 416 So. 2d 1133 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982), rev.den., 429 So. 2d 5 (Fla. 1983)] holds that actual income data is both relevant and admissible." Taxpayer's Reply to Response to Petition for Writ of Certiorari at 3. The taxpayer herein has not stipulated to the validity of the Property Appraiser's entire income appraisal, which involves the application of a capitalization rate to the revenue and expenses of the subject property. Where, as here, the taxpayer attempts to "accept" only one hypothesized component in the income appraisal formula, the actual income cannot be eliminated as an object of discovery by a purported stipulation by the taxpayer. The fact that "actual income data" remains a relevant issue for the trial court's consideration (as expressly admitted by the taxpayer itself) distinguishes the instant case from the divorce cases cited by the District Court and brings the instant case within the Orlowitz rule.

In quashing the district court's decision in Orlowitz, this Court agreed with Mrs. Orlowitz's contention that the Third District decision denying access to her husband's financial records had the effect of denying to the court information concerning issues other than the husband's ability to pay alimony. In the instant case, the decision of the Third District denying the Property Appraiser access to mortgage appraisals prepared by third parties, leases, rent rolls, operating statements, insurance policies, and other documents relating exclusively to Bal Harbour Shops, and not otherwise indicative of the taxpayer's personal finances, has the effect of denying to the trial court information admittedly relevant to the valuation of the subject property, the ultimate issue in this tax assessment action.

The decision sought to be reviewed represents a clear departure

e

from the esential requirements of law since it is predicated upon (1) a finding of <u>lack</u> of relevance where the record indicates that the parties agree that the mtter sought to be discovered is relevant; and (2) ostensib consideration of the confidential nature of <u>some</u> of the documents sought to be discovered, where the trial court itself expressly provided for protection of the confidentiality of <u>all</u> documents ordered to be produced.

App. C, para. 1.

The decision of the District Court below expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's Orlowitz decision on the question of whether a litigant may discover matters relating to income and financial data.

B. The Decision of the District Court Expressly and Directly Conflicts With the Decision of This Court in Blake v. Xerox.

Herein, the Property Appraiser and the DOR contend that the District Court's decision effectively denies the trial court the very information necessary to show that the Bal Harbour Shops was not assessed in excess of its fair market value. Herein, the District Court found that the taxpayer had "conceded" that the income figure hypothesized by the Property Appraiser was correct. To reach its conclusion that the trial judge had abused his discretion in permitting the discovery requested, the District Court found that the requested "records are not relevant because they are probative only of the income earned frm the ownership of the property, an issue which is not being litigated." App. D at 5, 10 FLW at 354. The conclusion that actual income is not at issue in a tax assessment case involving income-producing property expressly and directly conflicts With the recent decision of this Court in Blake v.

Xerox Corporation, 447 So.2d 1348 (Fla. 1984) on the same question of law.

Under Xerox, the taxpayer challenging an assessmentmst show that the property appraiser's valuation is unsupported by any of the three standard approaches to value: market, cost and income (or economic). The Property Appraiser's request for production below included items directed to discovery of information related to all three approaches.

For example, face amounts of policies insuring the Bal Harbour Shops against damage from fire and other hazards are no doubt based on calculations of reproduction or replacement cost and may well lead to discovery of admissible appraisal data evaluating the estimated cost of replacing the existing improvements.

a

Additionally, on December 16, 1982, the mortgagee of the subject property increased a November 21, 1980 mortgage from \$13,700,000 to \$21,000,000. The inference is inescapable that the mortgagee had at least one fair market value appraisal prepared to justify such a quantum increase in the outstanding debt secured by the Bal Harbour Shops. Such an appraisal would reflect on the property's value as indicated by its performance in 1981 (the tax year in question), and would be admissible at trial and therefore discoverable. See Florida Administrative Code rule 12D-1.05(9). A mortgage appraisal on such a property muld necessaril involve all three approaches to value. The Appraisal of Real Estate, Eighth Edition, 53-54, 497-505. The economic approach to value featured in the mortgagee's appraisal muld involve the selection of an appropriate rate of capitalization, an issue which even the District Court and the taxpayer muld agree remains to be adjudicated by the trial court. Transactions which generate an appraisal of the subject property provide admissible evidence of the value of property for assessment purposes, Southern Bell v. County of Dade, 275 So. 2d 4, 9 (Fla. 1973), and a fortiori are admissible.

The foregoing arguments were submitted to the trial court, which is traditionally accorded broad discretion in discovery matters. The trial judge weighed the need for discovery against the privacy rights of the taxpayer. The court was persuaded that the requested documents were discoverable under Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.350 in light of the applicability of the three approaches to property valuation, <a href="Xerox">Xerox</a>, supra</a>, and the absence of any timely objection by the taxpayer. The trial court expressly provided for protection of the confidentiality of the taxpayer's records.

App. C, para. 1.

In quashing the trial court's order and immunizing the taxpayer against discovery of any document relating to any of the three hypotheses of legal assessment, the District Court issued a decision in express and direct conflict with the decision of this Court in Xerox.

C. The Decision of the District Court Expressly and Directly Conflicts With Decisions of the First District in <u>County of Volusia v. Union Camp Corp.</u> and <u>Greenwood v. Firstamerica Development Corp.</u>

The District Court decision herein is in express and direct conflict with two First District decisions on the question of discovery of taxpayer records in a tax assessment suit. In <u>Union Camp</u>, <u>supra</u>, 302 So.2d 160 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974), the First District reversed the trial court for <u>denying</u> the Volusia County Property Appraiser access to documents relating to the acquisition of property whose assessment was being litigated. <u>Sub judice</u>, the Third District has reversed the trial court for <u>granting</u> the Dade County Property Appraiser access to just such "<u>acquisition information</u>". App. B, para. 12. The Property Appraiser has also requested production of other documents relating to actual transactions with respect to the subject property other than its acquisition. Such documents include leases, app. B, para. 3; loan applications and mrtgages, <u>id.</u>, para. 6; appraisals, <u>id.</u>, para. 7; and rent rolls, <u>id.</u>, para. 11.

Like <u>Union Camp</u>, <u>Greenwood v. Firstamerica Development Corp.</u>, 265 So.2d 89 (Fla. 1st DCA 1972), involved the classification and valuation of certain lands for tax assessment purposes. The trial court granted the Volusia County Property Appraiser's motion to require the taxpayer to produce all its books of account and other income records reflecting revenues attributable to the land involved in the lawsuit. The court denied access to the taxpayer's federal income tax returns, since it had granted access to the income and expense records from which such returns had been prepared. 265 So.2d at 91. The First District reversed and remanded with directions to <u>enlarge</u> the scope of the Property

Appraiser's discovery to include an additional year's records. Id. at 92.

Because the decision of the court below expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's decisions in Orlowitz and Xerox, and with the decisions of the First District in Union Camp and Firstamerica, this Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction and review the decision of the District Court in this cause.

m

a

a

II. THE SUPREME COURT SHOULD EXERCISE ITS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT BECAUSE THE DECISION DIRECTLY AND EXPRESSLY AFFECTS A CLASS OF CONSTITUTIONAL OFFICERS.

County property appraisers are a class of constitutional officers under art. VIII, sec. 1(d), Fla. Const. (1980). This Court has jurisdiction of this case pursuant to art. V, sec. 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. and Fla.R.App.P. 9.030 (a)(2)(A)(iii) because the District Court's decision directly and expressly affects the Property Appraiser of Dade County and, thereby, all property appraisers in the State. The District Court's decision does more than simply modify or construe or add to the existing case law on ad valorem taxes: it directly and exclusively affects the powers and duties of property appraisers in that it allows a taxpayer to obtain a reduced assessment from the property appraisal adjustment board and then immunize itself from discovery of admittedly relevant documents when the property appraiser seeks judicial reinstatement of his assessment. The District Court's decision thus severely handicaps the property appraiser by limiting discovery in this de novo proceeding in which the property appraiser has the burden of proof. Sec. 194.032(6)(c), Fla. Stat. (1981).

In Dade County alone, 21,591 petitions were filed with the Property

Appraisal Adjustment Board in 1981, one of which resulted in the cause

within. Given such an enormous number of petitions, it is a statistical

certainty that a number of Board decisions will reduce assessments below

the constitutional/statutory fair market value standard and be so egregious

as to impel the property appraiser to file suit to restore the preliminary assessment pursuant to sec. 194.032(6)(a), Fla. Stat. (1981).

а

а

Taxpayers must not be permitted to obtain a windfall from the property appraisal adjustment board unsupported by any evidence and ther raise a shield of purported confidentiality when the property appraiser brings an action in circuit court to restore the assessment to fair market value and seeks discovery admittedly relevant and admissible on the issue of valuation. Taxpayer's Reply to Response to Petition for Writ of Certiorari at 3. By its decision herein substantially impairing the discovery rights of the property appraiser in a tax assessment action, the District Court has shackled a constitutional officer in the performance of his duty to ensure that all property in the county is assessed at fair market value and that all property owners pay their full and equal share of taxes to defray the costs and expenses of government. E.a., Dade County Taxing Authorities v\_ Cedars of Lebanon Hospital Corp., 355 So. 2d 1202, 1204 (Fla. 1978). The decision sought to be reviewed departs significantly from the essential requirements of law governing pretrial discovery and is peculiarly inequitable since these proceedings have actually arisen at the instance of the taxpayer, who successfully petitioned the Property Appraisal Adjustment Board for a \$1,810,185 reduction in assessment.

This Court should therefore exercise its jurisdiction and review the decision of the District Court because it greatly affects property appraisers, a class of constitutional officers.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument and authority, this Honorable Court is respectfully requested to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction and accept this case for review.