IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 66916 THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL NO. 84-1431

	/
JUN 10 1985	
CLERK, SUPREME COURT	
ByChief Deputy Clerk	

FRANKLIN B. BYSTROM, etc., et al.,)
Petitioners,)
V.)
S.F. WHITMAN, et al.,
Respondents.)

•

е

REPLY BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

FINE JACOBSON SCHWARTZ NASH BLOCK & ENGLAND, P.A. 2401 Douglas Road P.O. Box 140800 Miami, Florida 33134 (305) 446-2200

By: STUART L. SIMON

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH THIS COURT'S OPINION IN ORLOWITZ, 199 So.2d 97 (Fla. 1967).

In analyzing the <u>Orlowitz</u> case, the Property Appraiser paints with an overly broad brush and misses truly significant issues and nuances. It is true that this Court quashed the Third District's opinion in <u>Orlowitz</u> and expressed a preference for the rationale of the Fourth District in <u>Parker v.</u> <u>Parker</u>, 182 So.2d 498 (Fla. 4th DCA 1966) over its own 1951 opinion in <u>Jacobs v. Jacobs</u>, 50 So.2d 169 (Fla. 1951). In ruling as it did in the <u>Orlowitz</u> case, the Third District had relied on the <u>Jacobs</u> case when it held that a husband's undertaking "to answer any reasonable order for costs, fees or other allowances" immunized that husband from an inquiry into his financial worth. This Court then reversed the Third District's opinion but stated inter alia;

"Since the trial court possesses broad discretion, not only in the granting or refusing of a discovery motion, but also for the protection of the parties against the possible abuse of this procedure, Rule 1.310(b) F.R.C.P., 30 F.S.A. [now Rule 1.280(c), Rules of Civil Procedure], it follows that only an abuse of this discretion by the chancellor would constitute fatal error. * * * * * *

There are no doubt many instances in which a court should exercise its **power** to protect a party against an unwarranted disclosure of the details of his financial holdings. In the instant case none are made to appear. Therefore under the facts of this case we are forced to conclude that the chancellor abused his discretion in entering the order of protection." (Emphasis supplied)

This Court did not hold as a matter of law that any offer by a divorced or divorcing spouse to meet the financial needs of the other spouse must be disregarded and that the offering spouse or former spouse must have his financial assets and federal income tax returns scrutinized regardless of his financial status. This Court held in <u>Orlowitz</u> that where the offering husband indicated that he could scrape \$15,000 together for a payment to the wife "if he had to", where he indicated that his net worth was less than a million dollars, and where his undertaking to answer an order for costs, fees or other allowances was qualified by the use of the word "reasonable," there was an insufficient basis to hold that the wife was prohibited from inquiring further as to the husband's financial worth, income, capital assets, income tax returns or other financial data.

This Court then did not reverse its holding in <u>Jacobs</u> in the <u>Orlowitz</u> case. It held in <u>Orlowitz</u> that there was an insufficient showing of the husband's wealth or earning power in that particular case to put him beyond the ability of the wife to inquire further into his financial status, while still upholding the principal that there are many instances where "a court should exercise its power to protect a party against an unwarranted disclosure of the details of his financial holdings."

Since the <u>Orlowitz</u> case, the Third District Court of Appeal has continued to cite and rely on this Court's ruling in <u>Jacobs</u> or to reach a conclusion consistent with <u>Jacobs</u> without mentioning that case by name, and in

8

8

several instances this Court has thereafter declined to review the Third District's opinion. In <u>Meltzer v. Meltzer</u>, 356 So.2d 1263 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), the Third District issued an opinion authored by the present Chief Justice in which it tacitly approved a doctor-husband's stipulation that he was financially able to meet any reasonable award of alimony and child support, and a General Master therefore avoided making any express finding as to the specific amount of the doctor's annual earnings. Review was sought in this Court and denied at 370 So.2d 460 (Fla. 1979).

In <u>Alterman v. Alterman</u>, 361 So.2d 773 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), the Third District, when faced with having to decide whether a trial judge ruled properly when he denied a former wife's motion to compel her former husband to produce his income tax returns held:

> In support of her position, appellant relies upon Orlowitz v. Orlowitz, 199 So.2d 97 (Fla. 1967), and Parker v. Parker, 182 So.2d 498 (Fla. 4th DCA 1966). In our opinion, the Orlowitz and Parker cases are inapplicable to the facts of the instant action. In both of those cases, the discovery sought related to the many facets of the financial matters pertaining to an original divorce action, whereas, in the instant case the sole issue before the trial court was the propriety of an increase in the amount of appellant's alimony which had been awarded approximately 14 years earlier in the original divorce proceeding between the parties. In the instant action, appellee responded unequivocally to appellant's petition that he was financially able to pay the increase in alimony sought by appellant. Based on the record, neither the question of appellee's ability to pay nor the concerns catalogued in Parker, at 500-01, are present. The only question is whether appellant is entitled to an increase in her alimony payments.

> As stated by the Supreme Court of Florida in <u>Orlowitz</u>, at 98, a trial court possesses broad discretion in granting or denying motions in discovery matters. The Court went on to say that "[t]here are no doubt many instances in which a court should exercise its power to protect a party against an unwarranted disclosure of the details of his financial holdings." In our opinion, based on the record before us, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in entering the order appealed; therefore, it is affirmed. See Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.280(c). See also <u>Ortiz v. Ortiz</u>, 194 So. 2d 38 (Fla. 3d DCA 1967).

8

In <u>Schottenstein v. Schottenstein</u>, 384 So.2d 933 (Fa. 3d DCA 1980)

the Third District again opined:

а

а

Mr. Schottenstein may not by contract with his wife obviate or impair his obligation to support his minor children. Lee v. Lee, 157 Fla. 439, 26 So.2d 177 (1946). The child support payments agreed upon by the parties in 1973 are not commensurate with the husband's present financal ability and the present needs of his school-age children. Meltzer v. Meltzer, 356 So.2d 1263 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978); Jelke v. Jelke, 233 So.2d 408 (Fla. 3d DCA 1970). Where a party stipulates that he can adequately pay increased child support in order to foreclose inquiry into his present financial circumstances, a court can properly assume that his earnings and assets have substantially increased. A substantial increase in the earnings of the husband will, by itself, justify an increase in child support. Meltzer v. Meltzer, supra.: Sherman v. Sherman, 279 So.2d 887 (Fla. 3d DCA We conclude that the trial court's failure to 1973). increase the child support payments constitutes an abuse of discretion.

Review of this opinion was also sought in this Court and denied at 392 So.2d 1378 (Fla. 1980).

In <u>Palmar v. Palmar</u>, 402 So.2d 20 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981) the Third District Court of Appeal similarly ruled by saying:

> The husband stipulated to his financial ability to pay any award determined reasonable by the court and we find no error in denying the wife discovery of husband's financial assets.

Relatively recently, the First District Court of Appeal has followed the ruling of the Third District on this issue of law. In <u>Granville v.</u> <u>Granville</u>, 445 So.2d 365 (Fla. 1st DCA, 1984), the First District was called upon to review the denial by the trial judge of the motion made by the noted stock market prognosticater for a protective order prohibiting inquiry by a former wife into his financial status. In reversing the trial judge, the First District held:

Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.280(c), dealing with protective orders, provides:

Upon motion by a party or by the person from whom discovery is sought, and for good cause shown, the court in which the action is pending may make any order to

protect a party or person from annoyance, embarrassment, oppression, or undue burden or expense that justice requires, . . .

In view of the unique circumstances regarding husband's reputation and career as a market forecaster: the fact that he has stipulated to his financial ability and willingness to pay a reasonable increase in child support; the almost oppressive interrogatories requested by the wife, as well as her failure to specify any dollar amounts of the modifications requested, we find that the trial court erred in denying husband's motion for protective order in that such denial would, in our opinion, result in irreparable harm that could not be cured on direct appeal.⁵ Cf. Alterman v. Alterman, 361 So.2d 773 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978); Palmar v. Palmar, 402 So.2d 20 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981).

⁵Wife argues that <u>Orlowitz v. Orlowitz</u>, 199 So.2d 97 (Fla. 1967) requires us to uphold the denial of husband's motion for protective order. We find <u>Orlowitz</u> distinguishable on the facts, and note also the statement of the court that "[t]here are no doubt many instances in which a court should exercise its power to protect a party against an unwarranted disclosure of the details of his financial holdings." <u>Id.</u> at 98.

In presenting his argument, the Property Appraiser has quoted undersigned counsel unfairly and out of context. The Brief of the Whitmans did concede that actual income data was both relevant and admissible in ad valorem tax cases generally; in the face of Section 195.027(3), Florida Statutes, no straightforward advocate can say differently. But when the challenging taxpayer accepts the hypothesized net income figure arrived at by a Property Appraiser who values only on the basis of an income approach, and thus limits his challenge solely to the capitalization rate applied to the hypothesized net income, then the estimated income figures used by the Property Appraiser are accepted by the taxpayer and become irrelevant to the single and sole issue remaining in the litigation, namely, the correctness of the capitalization rate.

The remainder of the Property Appraiser's argument on this point is addressed to the merits of the case rather than the limited jurisdictional issues and will not be responded to in this Brief.

POINT II

THE OPINION OF THE DISTRICT COURT DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH THIS COURT'S OPINION IN BLAKE V. XEROX, 447 So.2d 1348 (Fla. 1984).

In the <u>Xerox</u> case the Dade County Property Appraiser used a method of valuation, which this Court denominated as the "List Price less depreciation method," in which the list prices of the various machines adjusted for depreciation formed the basis of the assessed value. The Xerox Company contended that an income capitalization method was superior and would produce a more equitable valuation result. This Court held that, regardless of which method of valuation was theoretically superior, the Court should uphold the Property Appraiser's method if it was supported by any reasonable hypothesis of legality.

In the instant case there is no disagreement between the parties as to the method of valuation to be used. The County Property Appraiser has utilized an income capitalization method which immediately on formulation became cloaked in a presumption of correctness. The taxpayer accepts the income capitalization method as the proper method for valuing the property, and there is thus no difference between the Appraiser and the taxpayer as to the valuation method to be used. The taxpayer accepts both the method of valuation chosen by the Appraiser and the determination of net operating income calculated by the Appraiser as correct. It will be immediately apparent to the Court that the <u>Xerox</u> case and the instant case involve wholly dissimilar legal issues. In the <u>Xerox</u> case there was a difference of opinion as to the best and fairest method of valuation, while in the instant case there is no disagreement as to the method of valuation to be used or the net income attributed to the property by the Appraiser, but only as to whether the valuation method chosen was properly implemented by the Appraiser.

POINT III

THERE IS NO **CONFLICT** BETWEEN THE OPINION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT IN <u>COUNTY OF VOLUSIA V. UNION CAMP CORP.</u>, 302 So.2d 160 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974) AND THE OPINION IN THE INSTANT CASE.

The two cases alleged to be in conflict are wholly dissimilar and not comparable in any way. In the Union Camp case the First District held that Union Camp must answer interrogatories about and produce correspondence between Union Camp and the Branigar Organization Inc., an alleged subsidiary of Union Camp, concerning the agricultural or non-agricultural status of certain properties conveyed by the companies between themselves. The situation arose because a large parcel of property conveyed to Union Camp was denied the agricultural status for ad valorem tax purposes that it previously enjoyed, and Union Camp then challenged the legality of the new assessment. The Court required the discovery sought by Volusia County in order to permit the County to ascertain or prove that the land would be used for real estate development rather than for bona fide agricultural purposes. It will be obvious to the Court that the facts and circumstances involved in the Union Camp case are so dissimilar to those involved in the instant case that they cannot be said to be in conflict with one another. The only possible point of conflict that can be said to exist is that discovery was permitted in the Union Camp case but denied in the instant case, a clearly insufficient basis for any alleged conflict.

POINT IV

THERE IS NO CONFLICT BETWEEN THE OPINION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN <u>GREENWOOD v. FIRSTAMERICA DEVELOPMENT COW</u>, 265 So.2d 89 (Fla. 1st DCA 1972) AND THE OPINION IN THE INSTANT CASE.

The opinions said to be in conflict coincide rather than conflict. The First District's opinion states inter alia: By the order appealed herein, the trial court denied appellants' motion to require appellee to produce its income tax returns and restricted the other documents sought to be produced by appellee for appellants' inspection and copying to those documents relating only to the tax year **1967**, that being the tax year involved in this proceeding.

Appellants contend that the trial court abused its discretion and erred in denying their motion to require appellee to produce copies of its income tax returns for the years **1966** through **1970**, inclusive. With this contention we are unable to agree.

* * * * * *

In the absence of a more convincing and specific showing of necessity for such income tax returns of appellee, the court will not be held to have abused its discretion in this regard under the circumstances of this case.

POINT V

THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO REVIEW THE DECISION IN THIS CASE.

Although the opinion in the instant case pertains to County Property Appraisers, a class of constitutional officers, the opinion is very narrow in It clearly and unequivocally holds that an assessment challenging its scope. income and expense records are relevant and discoverable in taxpayer's litigation involving the correctness of an assessment, notwithstanding that such records were not used by the Appraiser in formulating the assessment. It is only when the Appraiser derives his assessment using only the income capitalization method, and the taxpayer agrees with both the method used and the net income derived by the Appraiser that the need for actual income and The sole remaining issue to be determined in the expense figures disappears. litigation is the correctness that the capitalization rate used, and anything else becomes redundant.

The Third District's opinion in the instant case properly seeks to narrow the issues in controversy between parties in tax litigation and should be viewed with favor by the Court.

FINE JACOBSON SCHWARTZ NASH BLOCK & ENGLAND, P.A. 2401 Douglas Road P.O. Box 140800 Miami, Florida 33134 (305) 446-2200 By: Murrel Amon